A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The imposition of convictions for first degree assault and 

drive-by shooting violated double jeopardy. 

2. The imposition of convictions for first degree assault and 

first degree robbery violated double jeopardy. 

3. Defense counsel's failure to move the trial court to find the 

first degree robbery and first degree assault convictions to be same 

criminal conduct constituted constitutionally deficient performance. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. A defendant has the constitutional right to be free from being 

placed twice in jeopardy. Multiple punishments for the same act where 

the Legislature has not authorized such multiple punishment violates 

double jeopardy. Imposition of convictions for first degree robbery and 

drive-by shooting where the same facts establish both offenses violates 

double jeopardy. Did the trial court violate double jeopardy when it 

entered convictions for first degree assault and drive-by shooting where 

the evidence establishing both offenses was the same? 

2. Where the same evidence proved first degree assault and first 

degree robbery because force was used to take and retain the property, 
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did the trial court violate double jeopardy when it imposed convictions 

for both offenses? 

3. A defendant has a Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 

right to counsel and to the effective representation of counsel. A 

defendant who is denied the effective assistance of counsel and is 

prejudiced by that failure at sentencing is entitled to a new sentencing 

hearing. Here, counsel failed to argue the first degree robbery and the 

first degree assault convictions were the same criminal conduct. Was 

Mr. Hicks prejudiced by his attorney's deficient representation thus 

requiring reversal of his sentence and remand for resentencing? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Coletin Kittleson was short of money and concocted a plan to 

rob someone to obtain money. RP 279. Kittleson was Erin Gunder's 

supplier of illegal Oxycontin. RP 24. Kittleson knew Ms. Gunder also 

used heroin, so he decided to ask Ms. Gunder to obtain two ounces of 

heroin, then forcibly take it from her and sell it to obtain the cash. RP 

279-80. Upon Kittleson's request, Ms. Gunder agreed to obtain the 

amount of heroin Kittleson sought. RP 280. 

Kittleson contacted his friend, Devan Bermodes, who had a car, 

to give him a ride to the meeting with Ms. Gunder. RP 93, 281. 
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Kittleson did not tell Bermodes about his plan. RP 281. lorell Hicks, 

another friend of Kittleson's, was aware of the plan, and accompanied 

Kittleson. RP 279. 

The trio arrived at the predetermined location and saw several 

police cars. RP 282. They decided to change the location of the 

transfer and contacted Ms. Gunder and told her of the change. RP 283. 

The trio arrived at this location and parked some distance away from 

Ms. Gunder's car. RP 283. Kittleson described Ms. Gunder to Mr. 

Hicks and directed him to her car. RP 285. Kittleson returned to 

Bermodes's car to await Mr. Hicks. RP 285. 

While awaiting Kittleson, Ms. Gunder got out of her car and 

went to the trunk to retrieve some different shoes. RP 31. According 

to Ms. Gunder, Mr. Hicks approached her from behind and, while 

brandishing a firearm, demanded the heroin, which she handed to him. 

RP 31. Mr. Hicks also demanded Ms. Gunder's wallet and purse, as 

well as anything in Ms. Gunder's boyfriend, Edward Straw's 

possession. RP 32. Mr. Hicks instructed Ms. Gunder to get into the 

car, then ran back to Bermodes's car where Bermodes and Kittleson 

were waiting. RP 33, 285. 
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Bermodes drove away, but Ms. Gunder began to follow. RP 34, 

68,285. Bermodes unsuccessfully attempted to elude Ms. Gunder. RP 

103. The trio in Bermodes' s car discussed ways to lose Ms. Gunder. 

RP 286. Mr. Hicks leaned out of the window of Bermodes's car and 

fired two rounds, one that struck Ms. Gunder's car, which caused Ms. 

Gunder to stop. RP 287-88. 

Police investigation led to the arrest of Kittleson, Bermodes and 

Mr. Hicks. Mr. Hicks was charged with first degree robbery, first 

degree assault, drive-by shooting, unlawful possession of a firearm in 

the first degree, and possession of heroin with the intent to deliver. CP 

147-48. The robbery, assault, and possession of heroin counts also 

contained sentence enhancements for being armed with a firearm at the 

time of the commission of the offense. CP 147-48. 1 Following a jury 

trial, Mr. Hicks was convicted as charged. CP 91-96, 98-99; 

311 /2012RP 1-2. Upon Mr. Hicks's request, the trial court ruled the 

assault and drive-by shooting convictions to be the same criminal 

conduct, finding Mr. Hicks's intent was to dissuade Ms. Gunder and 

1 Kittleson and Bermodes pleaded guilty prior to trial. Kittleson pleaded guilty 
to second degree robbery with a firearm enhancement and Bermodes pleaded guilty to 
second degree robbery. RP 108, 296. 
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Mr. Straw from continuing their pursuit of Kittleson, Bermodes, and 

Mr. Hicks. 5/3/2012RP 10. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. IMPOSITION OF CONVICTIONS FOR FIRST 
DEGREE ASSAULT AND DRIVE-BY 
SHOOTING, AS WELL AS FIRST DEGREE 
ASSAULT AND FIRST DEGREE ROBBERY, 
AS CHARGED AND PROVEN, VIOLATED 
DOUBLE JEOPARDY 

a. Multiple convictions for the same act violate double 

jeopardy. The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution provides that "[n]o person shall .. , be subject 

for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb." 

Article I, section 9 of the Washington State Constitution provides that 

"[n]o person shall ... be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense." 

The two clauses provide the same protection. In re Personal Restraint 

of Borrero, 161 Wn.2d 532, 536, 167 P.3d 1106 (2007); State v. Weber, 

159 Wn.2d 252, 265, 149 P.3d 646 (2006). Among other things, the 

double jeopardy provisions bar multiple punishments for the same 

offense. North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 23 

L.Ed.2d 656 (1969). 

The Legislature can enact statutes imposing, in a single 

proceeding, cumulative punishments for the same conduct. "With 
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respect to cumulative sentences imposed in a single trial, the Double 

Jeopardy Clause does no more than prevent the sentencing court from 

prescribing greater punishment than the legislature intended." Missouri 

v. Hunter, 459 U.S. 359, 366, 103 S.Ct. 673, 74 L.Ed.2d 535 (1983). If 

the Legislature intends to impose multiple punishments, their 

imposition does not violate the double jeopardy clause. Id. at 368. 

If, however, such clear legislative intent is absent, then the 

Blockburger test applies. Id.; see Blockburger v. United States, 284 

U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932). Under this test, 

"where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two 

distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether 

there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision requires 

proof of a fact which the other does not." Id. If application of the 

Blockburger test results in a determination that there is only one 

offense, then imposing multiple punishments is a double jeopardy 

violation. The assumption underlying the Blockburger rule is that the 

Legislature ordinarily does not intend to punish the same conduct under 

two different statutes; the Blockburger test is a rule of statutory 

construction applied to discern legislative purpose in the absence of 
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clear indications of contrary legislative intent. Hunter, 459 U.S. at 

368. 

In short, when a single trial and multiple punishments for the 

same act or conduct are at issue, the initial and often dispositive 

question is whether the legislature intended that multiple punishments 

be imposed. Id.; State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798,804, 194 P.3d 212 

(2008). If there is clear legislative intent to impose multiple 

punishments for the same act or conduct, this is the end of the inquiry 

and no double jeopardy violation exists. If such clear intent is absent, 

then the court applies the Blockburger "same evidence" test to 

determine whether the crimes are the same in fact and law. State v. 

Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769,777-78,888 P.2d 155 (1995). 

Double jeopardy challenges are reviewed de novo. State v. 

Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 770, 108 P.3d 753 (2005). 

b. Imposition of the assault and drive-by shooting 

convictions violated double jeopardy. The same evidence was used to 

establish Mr. Hicks was guilty of drive-by shooting and first degree 

assault, thus imposition of convictions for the two convictions offenses 
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violated double jeopardy.2 This Court should reverse and strike the 

drive-by shooting conviction. 

In assessing whether two offenses violate double jeopardy, this 

Court does not consider the elements of the offenses on an abstract 

level. '" [W]here the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of 

two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine 

whether there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision 

requires proof of a fact which the other does not. '" In re Personal 

Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 817, 100 P.3d 291 (2004), 

quoting Blockburger, 284 U.S. at 304 (emphasis added). In this 

analysis, the elements of the crime are considered as charged and 

proven. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 777. 

First degree assault requires an assault with a firearm with the 

additional intent to inflict great bodily harm. RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a). 

Drive-by shooting requires the discharge of a firearm from a moving 

vehicle. RCW 9A.36.045(1). 

The State's evidence establishing the assaults of Ms. Gunder 

and Mr. Straw consisted of Mr. Hicks firing two shots from a firearm 

2 The fact that the trial court found the two offenses to constitute the same 
criminal conduct does not foreclose a double jeopardy challenge, because a 
'" [c ]onviction in itself, even without imposition of sentence, carries an unmistakable 
onus which has a punitive effect.'" Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 774, quoting State v. Johnson, 
92 Wn.2d 671,679, 600 P.2d 1249 (1979), cert. dismissed, 446 U.S. 948 (1980). 
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from inside Mr. Bennodes's car, where at least one of the bullets struck 

Ms. Gunder's car. The State's evidence establishing that Mr. Hicks 

committed drive-by shooting was precisely the same, shooting a 

fireann at Mr. Straw and Ms. Gunder from inside Mr. Bennodes' scar. 

Because the proof of the crime of drive-by shooting was that 

Mr. Hicks committed a first degree assault from a car, the Double 

Jeopardy Clause requires vacation of the drive-by shooting conviction. 

c. Imposition of convictions for first degree assault and 

first degree robbery violated double jeopardy. The same evidence was 

used by the State to prove first degree assault and first degree robbery 

and imposition of convictions for both violated double jeopardy. This 

Court should reverse and order the first degree robbery conviction 

stricken. 

Robbery is proven by the unlawful taking of personal property 

from another "by the use or threatened use of immediate force, 

violence, or fear of injury" or effected "to obtain or retain possession." 

RCW 9A.56.190. First degree robbery applies if, in commission or 

immediate flight from the robbery, the defendant "[i]s anned with a 

deadly weapon," or "[d]isplays what appears to be a fireann or other 

deadly weapon." RCW 9A.56.200(l)(a). Thus force or fear used to 
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retain property and effectuate escape establishes robbery. State v. 

Manchester, 57 Wn.App. 765, 770, 790 P.2d 217, review denied, 115 

Wn.2d 1019 (1990).3 

Here, the evidence establishing both the assault and the robbery 

was Mr. Hicks's firing of the handgun at Ms. Gunder's car in an 

attempt to retain the property taken from her. Since robbery includes 

not only the use of force in the taking but also use of force in the 

retaining, imposition of convictions for the assault and robbery based 

upon the same evidence violated double jeopardy. 

d. The remedy for a double jeopardy violation where 

two or more offenses arise from the same conduct is to unconditionally 

vacate the felony murder conviction. In State v. Womac, the 

Washington Supreme Court ruled that the proper remedy for a violation 

of double jeopardy based upon imposition of two or more convictions 

founded upon the same evidence is to vacate the lesser conviction. 160 

Wn.2d 643, 659-60, 160 P.3d 40 (2007). Accord State v. League, 167 

Wn.2d 671, 223 P.3d 93 (2009) ("When two convictions violate double 

3 The decision in State v. SS.Y, 170 Wn.2d 322, 241 P.3d 781 (2010), 
seemingly undercuts Mr. Hicks's double jeopardy argument. But, the Supreme Court in 
SS Y based its decision primarily on the intent of the Legislature as found in the juvenile 
sentencing statute, RCW 13.40.180, to conclude separate punishment was intended. Id. 
at 330-31. In addition, the Court in SS Y failed to analyze the first degree assault and 
first degree robbery convictions as they were charged and proven. In light of this, this 
Court should decline to blindly follow SS Y 
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jeopardy principles, the proper remedy is to vacate the lesser conviction 

and remand for resentencing on the remaining conviction."). In 

Womac, the convictions involved were homicide by abuse, second 

degree felony murder, and first degree assault, all based upon the same 

act. The trial court ruled the convictions violated double jeopardy but 

conditionally dismissed them, allowing for reinstatement if the greater 

verdict and sentence were later set aside. The Supreme Court ruled that 

only the homicide by abuse conviction could stand and the other two 

convictions must be dismissed. Id. 

Imposition of a sentence for first degree assault and drive-by 

shooting violated double jeopardy and the drive-by shooting conviction 

should have been dismissed. In addition, imposition of convictions for 

first degree assault and first degree robbery violated double jeopardy 

and the robbery should have been dismissed. This Court should order 

that the drive-by shooting and robbery convictions be stricken. State v. 

Turner, 169 Wn.2d 448,466,238 P.3d 461 (2010). 
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2. MR. HICKS'S TRIAL ATTORNEY 
RENDERED CONSTITUTIONALLY 
DEFICIENT REPRESENTATION WHEN HE 
FAILED TO MOVE THE COURT TO FIND 
THAT FIRST DEGREE ASSAULT AND FIRST 
DEGREE ROBBERY CONSTITUTE THE 
SAME CRIMINAL CONDUCT 

a. Mr. Hicks had the right to the effective assistance of 

counsel. A criminal defendant has a Sixth Amendment and art. I, § 22 

right to counsel. Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 US. 335,83 S.Ct. 792, 9 

L.Ed.2d 799 (1963); Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S.Ct. 55,58, 

77 L.Ed. 158 (1932). "The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the 

adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to 

counsel's skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the 

'ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution' to which they 

are entitled." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,685, 104 S.Ct. 

2052,80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), quoting Adams v. United States ex reI. 

McCann, 317 US. 269, 275-76, 63 S.Ct. 236, 87 L.Ed.2d 268 (1942). 

The right to counsel includes the right to the effective assistance 

of counsel. McMann v. Richardson, 397 US. 759,771,90 S.Ct. 1441, 

25 L.Ed.2d 763 (1970); Strickland, 466 US. at 686. The proper 

standard for attorney performance is that of reasonably effective 

lawyer. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; McMann, 397 US. at 771. When 

12 



raising an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the defendant must 

meet the requirements of a two prong-test: 

First, the defendant must show counsel's performance 
was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made 
errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 
"counsel" guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. Second, 
the defendant must show that the deficient performance 
prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that 
counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the 
defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. 

"A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed 

question of fact and law reviewed de novo." State v. Sutherby, 165 

Wn.2d 870, 883,204 P.3d 916 (2009). 

While a challenge to the failure to find counts to be the same 

criminal conduct cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, State v. 

Nitsch, 100 Wn.App. 512, 523-25, 997 P.2d 1000 (2000), the issue can 

be raised for the first time on appeal where such a failure is due to the 

deficient representation of defense counsel and a sufficient record 

exists for the court to determine whether the counts are the same 

criminal conduct. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322,337-38 n.5, 899 

P.2d 1251 (1995). 
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b. Where multiple current offenses constitute the same 

criminal conduct the trial court must count them as a single offense. A 

person's offender score may be reduced if the court finds two or more 

of the criminal offenses constitute the same criminal conduct. RCW 

9.94A.589(1)(a). Same criminal conduct "means two or more crimes 

that require the same criminal intent, are committed at the same time 

and place, and involve the same victim." Id. 

The "same criminal intent" element is determined by looking at 

whether the defendant's objective intent changed from one act to the 

next. State v. Dolen, 83 Wn.App. 361, 364-65, 921 P.2d 590 (1996). 

The mere fact that distinct methods are used to accomplish sequential 

crimes does not prove a different criminal intent. State v. Grantham, 

84 Wn.App. 854, 859, 932 P.2d 657 (1997). The "same time" element 

does not require that the crimes occur simultaneously. State v. Porter, 

l33 Wn.2d 177, 185-86,942 P.2d 974 (1997); Dolen, 83 Wn.App. at 

365. Individual crimes may be considered same criminal conduct if 

they occur during an uninterrupted incident. Porter, 133 Wn.2d at 185-

86; Dolen, 83 Wn.App. at 365, citing State v. Walden, 69 Wn.App. 

183, 188,847 P.2d 956 (1983) (court found a defendant's convictions 

for second degree rape and attempted second degree rape, committed 
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by forcing the victim to submit to oral and attempted anal intercourse 

during one continuous incident, to be same criminal conduct). 

c. The two offenses shared the same intent, were 

committed at the same time, and involved the same victims. The 

robbery and assaults occurred at the same time and involved the same 

victims, Ms. Gunder and Mr. Straw. Thus, the only issue is whether 

the two offenses shared the same intent. Mr. Hicks submits they do. 

In the same criminal conduct context, intent is the offender's 

objective criminal purpose in committing the crime. State v. Adame, 56 

Wn.App. 803, 811, 785 P.2d 1144 (1990). Crimes may involve the 

same intent if they were part of a continuous transaction or involved a 

single, uninterrupted criminal episode. State v. Deharo, 136 Wn.2d 

856, 858-59, 966 P.2d 1269 (1998). "This analysis may include, but is 

not limited to, the extent to which one crime furthered the other, 

whether they were part of the same scheme or plan and whether the 

criminal objectives changed." State v. Calvert, 79 Wn.App. 569, 578, 

903 P.2d 1003 (1995). 

The intent of Mr. Hicks was to retain the items taken from Ms. 

Gunder. The robbery was a continuing crime which included the force 

needed to retain the items, thus the assault was merely the force used in 
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retention. As such, the two offenses constituted the same criminal 

conduct. 

Further, defense counsel's failure to move the trial court to find 

the offenses to be the same criminal conduct constituted 

constitutionally deficient performance. There was no legitimate 

strategic or tactical reason not to have requested the court to find the 

two offenses were the same criminal conduct. Mr. Hicks would only 

have benefited from such a request, and would not have suffered 

adverse consequences. In addition, counsel's performance was 

prejudicial where the sentencing court would likely have found the 

offenses were the same criminal conduct because it would have 

reduced Mr. Hicks's offender score and resulted in a substantial 

reduction in his standard sentencing range. 

d. Mr. Hicks is entitled to remand for resentencing. The 

remedy for an incorrect offender score is reversal of the sentence and 

remand to the trial court for resentencing with a corrected offender 

score. State v. Williams, 135 Wn.2d 365,366-67,957 P.2d 216 (1998).

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