NO. 68809-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

JORELL A. HICKS,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN J. JUHL Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333 STATE OF WASHINGTON
2013 APR -9 PM 1: 53

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. NEITHER DEFENDANT'S CONVICTIONS FOR FIRST DEGREE ASSAULT AND FIRST DEGREE ROBBERY NOR DEFENDANT'S CONVICTIONS FOR FIRST DEGREE ASSAULT AND DRIVE BY SHOOTING VIOLATED HIS PROTECTION FROM DOUBLE JEOPARDY.

The double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment protects a defendant from being punished multiple times for the same offense. State v. Adel, 136 Wn.2d 629, 632, 965 P.2d 1072 (1998). The Washington Constitution provides the same protection. State v. Graham, 153 Wn.2d 400, 404, 103 P.3d 1238 (2005); Adel, 136 Wn.2d at 632. Even when sentences for multiple offenses are served concurrently, double jeopardy protection remains applicable because of the other adverse consequences of multiple convictions. State v. Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 773, 888 P.2d 155

³ The court did not impose confinement on count 4, drive by shooting. Under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) offenses encompassing the same criminal conduct are counted as one crime with sentences to be served concurrently. Since the State did not object at the time of sentencing, and because a concurrent sentence on count 4 would not change the amount of defendant's total confinement, the State, therefore, declines to raise the issue on cross appeal. RAP 12.1; State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 167, 170, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992); State v. Newlum, 142 Wn. App. 730, 738, n. 5, 176 P.3d 529 (2008); State v. Barnett, 17 Wn. App. 53, 56, 561 P.2d 234, 236 (1977).

(1995). A double jeopardy challenge may be raised for the first time on appeal. Adel, 136 Wn.2d at 632. The question of whether a defendant's double jeopardy protection has been violated is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Frodert, 84 Wn. App. 20, 25, 924 P.2d 933 (1996).

To successfully prevail on his double jeopardy challenge, defendant must affirmatively establish that he has been twice punished for the same offense. Although the protection against multiple punishments is constitutional, the Legislature has the power to determine what type of conduct is prohibited under the law and to determine the appropriate punishment. Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 776. The inquiry thus becomes whether the Legislature intended to authorize multiple punishments for the actions which led to defendant's convictions. State v. Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d 448, 454, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003); State v. Leming, 133 Wn. App. 875, 882, 138 P.3d 1095 (2006).

1. Express Or Implicit Legislative Intent.

Because the question largely turns on what the legislature intended, we first consider any express or implicit legislative intent. Sometimes the legislative intent is clear, as when it explicitly provides that burglary shall be punished separately from any related crime. RCW 9A.52.050. Sometimes, there is sufficient evidence of legislative intent that we are

confident concluding that the legislature intended to punish two offenses arising out of the same bad act separately without more analysis. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Calle</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 777–778 (rape and incest are separate offenses).

State v. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 771-772, 108 P.3d 753 (2005). The Court has found that the legislature intended to punish first degree assault and first degree robbery separately. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 776, 779-780; State v. S.S.Y., 170 Wn.2d 322, 331-332, 241 P.3d 781 (2010).

Where legislative intent is not clear, courts turn to the Blockburger / same evidence test. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 772; Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 777.

The applicable rule is that, where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one is whether each provision requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not.

Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932). The Blockburger test is similar to Washington's 'same evidence' test. Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 777. In order to be the same offense for purposes of double jeopardy the offenses must be the same in law and in fact. If there is an element in each offense that is not included in the other, and proof of one offense would not necessarily also prove the other, the offenses are not

constitutionally the same and the double jeopardy clause does not prevent convictions for both offenses. <u>Freeman</u>, 153 Wn.2d at 772; <u>Calle</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 777.

2. Different In Law.

Here, the crimes of first degree assault, first degree robbery and drive by shooting are found in different sections of the criminal code.

a. First Degree Assault.

A person is guilty of assault in the first degree if he or she, with intent to inflict great bodily harm:

(a) Assaults another with a firearm or any deadly weapon or by any force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death;

RCW 9A.36.011 (1)(a).

b. First Degree Robbery.

A person commits robbery when he or she unlawfully takes personal property from the person of another or in his or her presence against his or her will by the use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his or her property or the person or property of anyone. Such force or fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking; in either of which cases the degree of force is immaterial.

RCW 9A.56.190.

- (1) A person is guilty of robbery in the first degree if:
- (a) In the commission of a robbery or of immediate flight therefrom, he or she:
- (i) Is armed with a deadly weapon; or
- (ii) Displays what appears to be a firearm or other deadly weapon;

RCW 9A.56.200 (1)(a)(i) and (ii).

c. Drive By Shooting.

A person is guilty of drive-by shooting when he or she recklessly discharges a firearm as defined in RCW 9.41.010 in a manner which creates a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to another person and the discharge is either from a motor vehicle or from the immediate area of a motor vehicle that was used to transport the shooter or the firearm, or both, to the scene of the discharge.

RCW 9A.36.045 (1).

The crimes of first degree assault, first degree robbery and drive by shooting are different in law. "If each crime contains an element that the other does not, we presume that the crimes are not the same offense for double jeopardy purposes." Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 772, citing Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 777; Blockburger, 284 U.S. at 304. The legislative intent to punish these crimes separately is indicated by the fact that the statutes are directed at different evils. Cf. Calle, 125 Wn.2d 780-781 (finding the rape and incest statutes directed to separate evils, double jeopardy did not

prevent convictions for both offenses arising out of a single act of intercourse). First degree assault and first degree robbery do not violate double jeopardy. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 776, 779-780; S.S.Y., 170 Wn.2d at 331-332. Assault and drive-by shooting do not violate double jeopardy because each requires proof of facts that the other does not. State v. Larson, 160 Wn. App. 577, 593, 249 P.3d 669 review denied, 172 Wn.2d 1002, 257 P.3d 666 (2011).

3. Different In Fact.

Each crime required proof of an element the other crimes did not require.

a. First Degree Assault.

To convict the defendant of the crime of assault in the first degree, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about the 16th day of August, 2011, the defendant assaulted Erin Gunder and/or Edward Shaw;
- (2) That the assault was committed with a firearm;
- (3) That the defendant acted with intent to inflict great bodily harm; and
- (4) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 111 (Jury instruction 8, WPIC 36.02).

b. First Degree Robbery.

To convict the defendant of the crime of robbery in the first degree, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about the 16th day of August, 2011, the defendant unlawfully took personal property from the person or in the presence of another;
- (2) That the defendant intended to commit theft of the property;
- (3) That the taking was against the person's will by the defendant's use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person;
- (4) That force or fear was used by the defendant to obtain or retain possession of the property or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking;
- (5)(a) That in the commission of these acts or in immediate flight therefrom the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon or
- (b) That in the commission of these acts or in the immediate flight therefrom the defendant displayed what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon;
- (6) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 123 (Jury instruction 20, WPIC 37.02).

c. Drive By Shooting.

To convict the defendant of the crime of drive by shooting, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about the 16th day of August, 2011, the defendant recklessly discharged a firearm;
- (2) That the discharge created a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to another person;

- (3) That the discharge was either from a motor vehicle or from the immediate area of a motor vehicle that was used to transport the shooter or the firearm to the scene of the discharge; and;
- (4) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.CP 127 (Jury instruction 23, WPIC 35.31).

The crimes of first degree assault and first degree robbery were not the same in fact. Each required proof of an element that the other did not require. The fact that Gunder and Shaw were assaulted was irrelevant to the crime of first degree robbery. Proof of an assault is not necessary to prove first degree robbery. Likewise, while first degree robbery required proof of taking Gunder's property, the taking of property was irrelevant to the crime of first degree assault.

Similarly, the crimes of first degree assault and drive by shooting were not the same in fact. Larson, 160 Wn. App. at 593. Gunder and Shaw were assaulted when defendant fired two shots at them from a vehicle. The mere fact that the same conduct is used to prove each crime is not dispositive. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 777. Proof of an assault is not necessary to prove drive by shooting. The reckless discharge of a firearm from a motor vehicle was not required to prove the crime of first degree assault. Because the elements of the crimes are different, defendant has

failed to meet his burden under the <u>Blockburger</u> and same evidence tests to show that the crimes are the same for double jeopardy purposes.

4. Merger Does Not Apply.

Merger only applies where the Legislature has clearly indicated it intended the offenses to merge. State v. Sweet, 138 Wn.2d 466, 478, 980 P.2d 1223 (1999); State v. Vladovic, 99 Wn.2d 413, 420-421, 662 P.2d 853 (1983). The merger doctrine is an aid in determining legislative intent. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 772; Sweet, 138 Wn.2d at 477. Under the merger doctrine, when separately criminalized conduct raises another offense to a higher degree, the court presumes that the Legislature intended to punish both offenses only once, namely for the more serious crime with the greater sentence. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 772–773; State v. Leming, 133 Wn. App. 875, 882, 138 P.3d 1095 (2006). Here, none of defendant's convictions raised another offense to a higher degree.

5. Same Criminal Conduct.

The Legislature has validated the concept of multiple convictions arising out of the same criminal act. RCW 9.94A.589. At sentencing the court found that the first degree assault and drive

by shooting were the same criminal conduct. CP 18; 2RP 10. 9.94A.589(1)(a), requires multiple current offenses encompassing the same criminal conduct to be counted as one crime in determining the defendant's offender score: "Same criminal conduct,' as used in this subsection, means two or more crimes that require the same criminal intent, are committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim." RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). Sentences imposed under this subsection are to be served concurrently. Id. Thus, it is clear that the legislative intent includes the possibility that a single act may result in multiple convictions, and simply limits the consequences of such convictions. State v. Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 781-782, 888 P.2d 155 (1995).

B. DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN THAT COUNSEL'S REPRESENTATION WAS DEFICIENT NOR THAT HE WAS PREJUDICED BY COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE.

Defendant argues that he was denied effective assistance of counsel. He claims that counsel was ineffective by not arguing that the first degree assault and first degree robbery convictions were the same criminal conduct for purposes of sentencing. Appellant's Brief 12-16. Application of the same criminal conduct statute involves both factual determinations and the exercise of discretion.

State v. Nitsch, 100 Wn. App. 512, 523, 997 P.2d 1000, review denied, 141 Wn.2d 1030 (2000). Failure to raise same criminal conduct at sentencing waives the right to appeal the issue. In re Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d 861, 875, 50 P.3d 618 (2002); State v. Jackson, 150 Wn. App. 877, 892, 209 P.3d 553 (2009). However, the issue can be raised on appeal under a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 336, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

As shown below defendant's convictions for first degree assault and first degree robbery did not involve the same criminal conduct for sentencing purposes. Thus, defense counsel's failure to argue same criminal conduct for first degree assault and first degree robbery was not ineffective assistance. State v. Allen, 150 Wn. App. 300, 316-317, 207 P.3d 483 (2009).

1. Effective Assistance Of Counsel.

Effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by both the federal and the state constitutions. <u>In re Woods</u>, 154 Wn.2d 400, 420, 114 P.3d 607 (2005); see U.S. Constitution, amendment VI; Washington Constitution, Article I, § 22. To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must make two showings: (1) defense counsel's representation was deficient, i.e., it fell below an

objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all circumstances; and (2)defense counsel's representation prejudiced the defendant, i.e., there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 335; State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) (applying the 2-prong test in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). If one of the two prongs of the test is absent, the court need not inquire further. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697; State v. Foster, 140 Wn. App. 266, 273, 166 P.3d 726, review denied, 162 Wn.2d 1007, 175 P.3d 1094 (2007).

Competency of counsel is determined upon the entire record below. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 335; State v. White, 81 Wn.2d 223, 225, 500 P.2d 1242 (1972); State v. Gilmore, 76 Wn.2d 293, 456 P.2d 344 (1969). Where, as here, the claim is brought on direct appeal, the reviewing court will not consider matters outside the trial record. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 335; State v. Crane, 116 Wn.2d 315, 335, 804 P.2d 10, cert. denied, 501 U.S. 1237, 111 S.Ct. 2867, 115 L.Ed.2d 1033 (1991); State v. Blight, 89 Wn.2d 38, 45-46, 569 P.2d 1129 (1977).

Courts engage in a strong presumption that counsel's representation was effective. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 335; State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 198, 892 P.2d 29 (1995); Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226. "The burden is on the defendant to show from the record a sufficient basis to rebut the 'strong presumption' that counsel's representation was effective." State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004); McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 337; Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226. Because of this presumption, the defendant must show that there were no legitimate strategic or tactical reasons for the challenged conduct. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 336. In assessing performance, "the court must make every effort to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and must strongly presume that counsel's conduct constituted sound trial strategy." In re Rice, 118 Wn.2d 876, 888-889, 828 P.2d 1086 Prejudice requires a showing that but for counsel's (1992).performance it is reasonably probable that the result would have been different. State v. Nichols, 161 Wn.2d 1, 8, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007); Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226.

a. Defendant Has Not Shown That There Was No Strategic Or Tactical Reason For Counsel's Conduct.

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